1956

State of Utah v. Milda Hopkins Ashdown : Brief of Defendant and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant-Appellant was the wife of Ray Ashdown. They lived at Cedar City, Utah; On the morning of July 5, 1955, Dr. R. G. Williams was called to the Ashdown residence by Mrs. Ashdown to attend her husband Ray. When the Doctor arrived Mr. Ashdown was having a generalized convulsive seizure and death seemed to be imminent. He told the Doctor he had drank some lemon juice about a half hour before, then he took another convulsion and died. (T. 21-5). Analysis of the contents of the stomach of Mr. Ashdown by the State Chemist revealed that the same contained strychnine and the cause of his death was attributed to strychnine poisoning. There was a bottle of lemon juice found in the refrigerator of the Ashdown home but it did not contain any strychnine (T. 45-7) and no where in the home was any strychnine found. (T.57).

On the 9th of July, 1955, a funeral was held for Ray Ashdown, and at the cemetery after the burial the Sheriff of Iron County, Arthur Nelson, asked Mrs. Ashdown's son-in-law to bring Mrs. Ashdown to the City and County Building for a talk. The defendant and her sister came to the Sheriff's Office. There were present Sheriff Nelson and Deputies Arch Benson and Chuck Wells. The ladies complained about the heat and were served a glass of lemonade. The Sheriff then asked if they could talk to defendant alone

in the Courtroom. They went into the Court Room where in addition to the Sheriff and his Deputies, the District Attorney, Patrick H. Fenton was present. (T. 91-2). Then the defendant was subjected to a series of questioning which began at about 4 in the afternoon and did not end until about 9 or 9:30 in the evening, during all of which time defendant never left the room, was not given any food or rest, and at about 8:30 in the evening defendant made certain statements to the effect that she put the poison in the cup of lemon juice and gave it to her husband to drink, after which she was held on a charge of murder in the first degree. (T.71-9).

The record discloses that the defendant was a person of limited education, having gone to school only to the seventh or eighth grade—that she was married between the age of 16 and 17 years (T-113)—that she had just attended the funeral and burial of her husband when she was taken to the Court House for questioning—that the weather was extremely hot (T.71-2)—that she was in a hysterical frame of mind and sobbed and cried during the questioning (T. 107, 116, 135) — that she was taken in for questioning alone and was not represented by family, friends or legal counsel—that her father was in the Court House during the questioning and requested that she be given an attorney, but her father as well as her uncle were denied admission to the Court Room where she was being questioned, and were told that there was an attorney in there to represent her. (T. 78, 86-7, 97, 105-6). The defendant, after the alleged admission, requested legal counsel which request was entirely ignored. (T. 136). Next day a written confession was prepared by the Sheriff and handed to her for signing which she did. (T.83-4). At the trial of the action counsel for defendant objected to the admission of the written testimony and of the testimony and evidence relating to the oral confessions for the

reasons they were obtained in violation of the Constitutional rights of the defendant, (T. 118-19) and the Court ruled the written confession should not be admitted but made findings to the effect that there was no coercion, duress or promises of immunity or violation of constitutional rights of defendant (T. 150-53). The case went to the Jury and the Jury after deliberating some 19 hours returned a verdict of guilty with recommendation of life imprisonment (T. 190). It is from the findings of the Court and the verdict of the Jury that this appeal is taken, on the grounds and points hereinafter stated:

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I. THE VERDICT IS CONTRARY TO LAW AND THE EVIDENCE.

POINT II. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO COERCION, DURESS OR PROMISES OF IMMUNITY OR VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS OF DEFENDANT.

POINT III. THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE INTRODUCED BY THE STATE TO THE EFFECT THAT DEFENDANT UNDER ORAL QUESTIONING PRIOR TO HER ARREST, ORALLY CONFESSED TO CRIME CHARGED, FOR THE REASON THAT SUCH TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE WERE OBTAINED THROUGH COERCION, DURESS AND PROMISES OF IMMUNITY AND IN VIOLATION OF LAW AND OF THE GUARANTEES OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND THE STATE OF UTAH.

POINT IV. THE COURT ERRED IN CHARGING THE JURY AS PER HIS INSTRUCTION NO. 6, BY

WHICH THE JURY WAS CONFUSED AND MISDIRECTED SO AS TO RENDER AN IMPROPER VERDICT AGAINST DEFENDANT.

POINT V. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR ACQUITTAL.

POINT VI. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE VERDICT IS CONTRARY TO LAW AND THE EVIDENCE.

Aside from the oral admissions made by the defendant during the questioning by the officers there was no other evidence in the record connecting defendant with the crime. There was no strychnine found in the home or no record of defendant's purchasing any from any drug store, nor did the officers find any at the farm of Kumen Jones, where the defendant said she obtained it. There was no evidence of any outside source whatsoever to connect defendant with the crime.

As will be hereinafter strongly contended by the defense, that all of the testimony and evidence that defendant confessed to the crime charged, is and was inadmissible, and if such contention is upheld by this Court, then there is no other evidence to support the charge and the verdict of the Jury must be set aside.

POINT II. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO COERCION, DURESS OR PROMISES OF IMMUNITY OR VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS OF DEFENDANT.

Article I, Section 7, of the Constitution of Utah, provides:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

Article I, Section 12, Constitution of Utah, provides:

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel.

The accused shall not be compelled to give evidence against himself.

The Court made findings with regard to the admissibility of the testimony given by Sheriff Arthur Nelson, his Deputies and Patrick H. Fenton, the District Attorney to the effect that there was no promise made or assurance given of any immunity for prosecution (2) That defendant was advised of her constitutional rights before she made the statements sought to be introduced (3) That she did not ask for an attorney until after such statements were made (4) That she was questioned by the officers from approximately 4:00 P.M. until approximately 8:30 P.M. before she made the statements in question, and that her sister, her father and her uncle were not permitted to go into the Courtroom during the course of that questioning. (5) That there were no threats of violence or other threats made by either of the officers or by the District Attorney (6) That there was no promise made nor any assurance given of any benefit or reward, except the District Attorney informed the defendant that if poison had been given by mistake it might make a difference between a prosecution for murder and manslaughter, and informed the defendant of the penalties for those respective offenses (7) That the method of examination and circumstances were not severe enough to amount to compulsion as that is contemplated by the constitutional provisions or statutes which provide that a person shall not be compell-

ed to give evidence against himself. (8) That the circumstances were not such as to induce the defendant to make the statements in question and (9) that the inducing cause of the statement was not fear nor duress, nor compulsion, nor any promise or assurance of any reward or immunity. (Transcript page 150).

The defense contends that the Court erred in such findings, and that the alleged confession was not free and voluntary and was obtained in violation of the guarantees of the State Constitution and of the United States Constitution which stands as a bar against the conviction of any individual in an American Court by means of a coerced confession, or the denial of the right to counsel, or the denial of due process.

The record is replete with instances to show that defendant's alleged confession was not voluntary.

Appellant sets forth the circumstances surrounding such examination of the defendant as follows:

1. Defendant was a person of limited education.

2. She was in a hysterical frame of mind having attended the funeral and burial of her husband just immediately prior to the questioning.

3. The weather was extremely hot.

4. No member of her family was permitted to be in the room with her during such examination, although her father and uncle requested it.

5. She was continuously questioned and kept in the Court Room from 4 P.M. until 9:30 P.M. and at 8:30 P.M. such alleged confession was made by her.

6. She did not have benefit of counsel during such examination, and was not properly advised of her constitutional rights.

7. Officers repeated questions and statements over and over.

Appellant sets forth excerpts from the record to substantiate the above circumstances and to show that the alleged statements were not made freely and voluntarily by her but were the product of sustained questioning and pressure, and that her constitutional rights against self incrimination, the right to counsel and due process were flagrantly violated:

That defendant was a person of limited education:

William Hopkins, Direct, Transcript page 113:

“Q How much of an education did she have?

A Very little education.**She probably passed the seventh or eighth grade. ***She was between sixteen and seventeen years of age when she was married. Just a child like.”

Defendant was requested to come to Court Room for questioning directly after the funeral of her husband:

Sheriff Arthur Nelson, Direct, Transcript page 71:

“I asked to have her come up. I went out to the cemetery and the funeral was just over and they were ready to leave and I contacted her brother-in-law** Stewart had Mrs. Ashdown in his car, he was a son-in-law of Mrs. Ashdown, and I asked him if he would ask Stewart to bring Mrs. Ashdown by the County and City Building, we would like to talk to her. So Alf brought word back to me that he would go that way and take Mrs. Ashdown to the County and City Building.”

The weather was hot:

Sheriff Arthur Nelson, Direct, Transcript page 72:

“Well they were complaining about it being hot and it was hot so we served them a glass of lemonade, and then I asked Mrs. Ashdown if we could talk to her alone in the courtroom. And so we went into the courtroom and talked with her.”

No member of her family was permitted to be in the Court Room with her during such examination, although her father and uncle requested it:

Sheriff Arthur Nelson, Direct, Transcript page 73:

“Q Was Mr. Arch Benson, another deputy sheriff, present during this conversation?

A No, he was out in the hallway sort of taking care of the door; there was people trying to come in and out and we tried to keep everyone out of the courtroom.

Charles Wells, by Court, Transcript page 138:

“Q Did he say he would like to talk to her alone?

A Yes, sir.

Q Her sister was with her at that time?

A Her sister was in the Sheriff’s Office at the time, yes, sir.”

Walter Segler, Direct, Transcript page 104:

“A Well, when they entered the door at the foot of the stairs this Mr. Benson was at the foot of the steps and didn’t figure on anybody entering there.

Mr. Segler continuing from Transcript page 105:

“Q Who was with you?

A Well, Mr. Hopkins, her father.

And I says I am her uncle and this is her father. And I says I don’t think she has got a right to be questioned without her father’s presence or some attorney.

Q What happened.

A And I said I would like to go to the sheriff’s office. He never resisted, but we walked up the stairs and when we got to the top of the stairs there was another, either marshal or, I wouldn’t be sure, but I believe it was Hoyt, I am not sure,

a city marshal, I think. Of course I am not familiar with these names, I just since this came up got acquainted with them.”

Segler from Transcript page 106:

“I told them I thought that Mr. Hopkins, her father, or some attorney should be in her presence. And they refused to let either one of us go in.”

William Hopkins, Direct, T. page 114:

“A I remember, if my memory serves me rightly, I appeared there between four and five o’clock and went immediately into the sheriff’s office; and there we contacted Mr. Benson, Sheriff Miller and Sheriff Bybee, and as I remember it right, I made the remark that it didn’t look to me like a fair, square deal, to railroad that girl into that sheriff’s office without counsel or friends of any description.

Q What was the answer to that?

A Well, if I remember right, I believe Mr. Benson related that she was under suspicion. And if I remember right I believe I told him that we was very sorry, that we had no—that was the first information I had to that effect that she was even under suspicion, and he informed me that she was under suspicion.”

Defendant was questioned and kept in the Court Room from 4 P.M. until 9:30 P.M. without food or rest:

Nelson, Direct, T. page 71:

“Q Will you tell us the time of day that conversation took place?

A As near as I can remember it was about four o’clock.”

Wells, Direct, T. page 129:

“The Court: Did she leave the room at any time during the period from when she first went into the courtroom until she left in the evening?

A. No sir.

The Court: Was she offered the opportunity to leave the room at any time?

A I don’t think that I remember of a request be-

ing made or the offer being made at any time, Judge.

The Court: What time was it that she actually did leave the courtroom?

A That was possibly, I would say, between 9:30 and a quarter to ten.

The Court: Did you notice the time? When you say 'possibly' that doesn't help us.

A I came out of the courtroom at 9:30, yes, sir. I noticed the time."

Wells, Cross, T. page 135:

Q Did you offer anything, any food, didn't you say "Will you have lunch? Will you eat? Did you say that?

A You mean after four o'clock?

Q Yes.

A No."

Nelson, Direct, T. page 74:

"Q Was anything said to Mrs. Ashdown that she was free to leave the courtroom if she cared to?

A By George, I don't remember about that."

Walter Segler, Direct, T. page 108:

"***But before that, when Mr. Wells come out he says, 'Well' he says, 'it has been six and a half hours in this.'"

Defendant was in an hysterical condition during the questioning:

After defendant made the alleged oral confession in the evening of the 9th day of July, she was placed under arrest but she wasn't asked to sign any written statement until the next day on the 10th. To show that defendant was hysterical and not in a calm or unexcited state and didn't know what she was doing on July 9th when the alleged confession was made, the following is quoted from the record:

Nelson, Direct, T. page 86:

"The Court: Sheriff, why did you wait until the afternoon of the 10th before offering this to Mrs. Ashdown to sign?

A Well, we didn't take any written statement on the 9th. We thought we would talk to her on the 10th, she would be calm and wouldn't be excited and she would know what she was doing. We didn't want to feel like taking advantage of her."

Walter Segler, Direct, T. page 107:

"A And at that time I heard her crying and carrying on in there.

Q How long did you hear her crying?

A A couple of times when I was in the hall, and I don't know how long.

Q And you were there in the hall how long would you say, how many hours?

A Well, in the Sheriff's office and thereabout and back and forth to Mrs. Ashdown's place, I would say we was there approximately two and a half hours, or such a matter."

William Hopkins, Redirect, T. page 116:

"Q Could you hear Mildred crying?

A I could. Crying and moaning.

Q All the time you were there?

A Well, at intervals, most of the time, yes."

Wells, Cross Examination, T. page 135:

"Q Was she crying?

A She would sob and cry at times, yes sir."

Defendant did not have benefit of counsel during such examination although she requested it and her father and uncle requested it:

Nelson, Direct, T. page 78:

"***At that point she said 'I had ought to have an attorney.' 'Well' I said 'you have told us about everything now except the strychnine.' I says, 'Tell us where you got the strychnine and we can clear it up and get this over with.'

Nelson, Direct, T. p. 86:

"A She said 'I had ought to have an attorney,' that is the way she put it.

The Court: And then what was said?

A Well, I told her, I said 'Well, you told us about everything now except where you got the strychnine.' I says 'It is a little late to get an attorney.'"

The Court: What did she say then?

A She didn't ask any more for an attorney. She never mentioned one any more."

Nelson, Cross, T. page 87:

"Q Now, you stated to the court that after she asked for counsel she had confessed everything but where she got the strychnine, is that correct?

A Yes, that is right.

Q And you felt, like you told the court, there was no need for doing that, just as well get it over with.

A Yes, that is the way I felt about it.

Q You didn't heed to her request, then did you?

A No, we didn't."

Nelson, Cross, T. page 97:

"Q Now, how many times, sheriff, did that girl ask for counsel, one, two or three times?

A I heard her ask the one time.

Q Why didn't you give it to her, sheriff.

A Well, she had told us about everything then."

Segler, Direct, T. page 105:

"A Well, I says, it isn't fair to take that girl up there and question her without her father's presence or an attorney.***

A And I says, I am her uncle and this is her father. And I says, 'I don't think she has got a right to be questioned without her father's presence or some attorney.'"

Segler, T. page 106:

"A And when I told them up there again that I was her uncle, and I didn't think they had a right to take her in and question her, and one of the officers, I don't know which one it was spoke up and says, 'Why she's got an attorney in there to defend her.' He says, 'to give her constitu-

tional rights.' I says: 'Is he her attorney, or who?' I says, 'I didn't know anything about it until this time.' "

Segler, T. page 109:

"A Well, I am not sure, but it seems to me like it was Mr. Benson, it was one of them, like I said I wasn't acquainted with the men, didn't know them at the time, but they said she has got an attorney in there to advise her, and so they didn't want to let us in, because I said that I figured she needed her father's presence or an attorney. And they said 'Why she's got an attorney in there to advise her.' And that is the only answer we got, in regards to that."

William Hopkins, Direct, T. p. 114:

"A ***and there we contacted Mr. Benson, Sheriff Miller and Sheriff Bybee, and as I remember it right, I made the remark that it didn't look to me like a fair, square deal, to railroad that girl into that sheriff's office without counsel or friends of any description.

Q Did you ask for counsel then?

A Yes. I said 'I believe that she should have an attorney in there.' And I made the remark that I intended to employ you as an attorney."

Hopkins, ReDirect, T. p. 116:

"A Yes, I told them when I first went in there I thought that that was wrong for them to take her in there and quiz her and railroad her."

Wells, Cross, T. p. 136:

"Q Now, you said she did ask for counsel. Was there anyone that spoke up and said you can get him, we will go get him for you now?

A I think in answering that—

Q Just answer that

A She did ask for counsel

Q And she didn't get counsel

A Not at that time, no, sir.

Q Did she ever tell you, 'I don't want counsel?'

A No, that statement was never made to me."

Defendant's oral confession was not voluntary and the following excerpts from the record show that it wasn't and that inducements were made:

Nelson, Direct, T. p. 73:

"Well, I said to Mrs. Ashdown again, that the doctor still claimed that Ray had been poisoned and we would like to find out what had happened and asked her if there was any chance she had made a mistake of any kind and put poison in that lemon juice and thought it was salt."**

Nelson, Direct T. p. 76:

"A Well, then I asked Mrs. Ashdown again, I says, 'Now,' I says, 'Think and see if there has been a chance that there has been a mistake made, any kind of a mistake made' I says 'we should know about it and we could iron it out.'"

Nelson, Direct, T. p. 77:

*****And I think I asked her about the same thing over again, that somebody must have put some poison in the cup because Ray was pronounced being poisoned."**

Nelson, Direct T. p. 78:

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