1956

State of Utah v. Milda Hopkins Ashdown : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Milda Hopkins Ashdown, at Cedar City, Iron County, Utah, on the 5th day of July A. D., 1955, murdered her husband, Ray Ashdown, by administering to him strychnine poison; was charged with murder in the first degree and found guilty by a jury of her peers who recommended life imprisonment as punishment and not the death sentence.

The Fifth Judicial District Court, Honorable Will L. Hoyt, Judge, imposed sentence in accordance with the verdict and the recommendation of the jury.

Through counsel, defendant prosecutes this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

We shall adopt the appellant's Statement of the Facts but for the purpose of continuity in the presentation of respondent's argument and authorities, the facts will be further and more fully developed under the points hereinafter set forth.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE LAW AND THE EVIDENCE SUPPORT THE VERDICT.

POINT II

THERE WAS NO COERCION, DURESS OR PROMISE OF IMMUNITY MADE TO THE DEFENDANT NOR WAS THERE A VIOLATION OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT OF THE DEFENDANT AND THE COURT WAS CORRECT IN SO FINDING.

POINT III

THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS TO THE OFFICERS PRIOR TO HER ARREST AND PRIOR TO HER REQUEST FOR COUNSEL WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED IN EVIDENCE.

POINT IV

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN THE GIVING OF INSTRUCTION NO. 6.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LAW AND THE EVIDENCE SUPPORT
THE VERDICT.

It is the appellant's contention that:—

“Aside from the oral admissions made by the defendant during the questioning by the officers, there was no other evidence in the record connecting the defendant with the crime.”

The State thinks otherwise.

Dr. R. G. Williams testified to the following conversation had with Ray Ashdown just before the said Ray Ashdown died:

“* * * And I said: ‘Ray have you taken anything poison?’ And he said ‘No.’ I said: ‘Have you eaten anything spoiled?’ He said ‘No.’ I said: ‘Were you well this morning when you got up?’ He said: ‘Yes.’ I said: ‘When did you get sick?’ And he said: ‘A little while ago.’ I said: ‘Haven’t you drunk anything or eaten anything?’ He said: ‘I had some lemonade about half hour ago.’”

* * * * *

“* * * He said: ‘I had some lemon juice about a half hour ago.’ And I said: ‘How did it taste, Ray?’ And he started into another convulsion, and he said, ‘Doc, it tasted bitter’” (R. 23).

The defendant had told the witness Gloria Jean Barnhurst that her husband hadn't felt well since his breakfast (R. 18).

We would contend that the defendant in fact knew that her husband had taken, internally, strychnine; other-

wise, why did she administer to him two or three glasses of salt water in the hope that it would act as an emetic (R. 29). The State conclusively proved that the stomach of Ray Ashdown and the contents thereof contained strychnine, (R. 47) of an “appreciable” amount (R. 54). Mrs. Ashdown told Sheriff Nelson, freely and voluntarily on the day of the murder and before the interrogation of which defendant now complains, that she gave her husband a *cup* of lemond juice (R. 70) ; that was the aluminum cup with a red ring around the top of it which was:

“* * * setting on the top of the rest of the dishes turned upside down.

“Q. Tell us whether or not the dishes had been washed, Mr. Nelson.

“A. I didn’t think they had.

“Q. In relation to this cup you spoke about, had it been washed?

“A. Yes, the cup was clean” (R. 68).

We would claim for this cup and its cleansed condition something more than a mere coincidence; we would claim that the washing of the cup, when done, in and of itself, was sufficient to cast a grave suspicion upon the defendant.

On July 9th, during the questioning of the defendant, at the start thereof and before any confession, Mrs. Ashdown related the facts about the cup, saying:

“Q. And after that, sheriff, who spoke and what was said?

“A. I believe that we asked her—I don’t know whether I asked her or someone else at that time, I

believe it was me though that asked her—if Ray drank all of the lemon juice that was in the cup.

“Q. And what was the answer?

“A. She said no, he didn’t drink it all. And I asked her what became of what was left. And she said that she threw the lemon juice out of the back door?

“Q. Did she tell you what she did with the cup after she threw the lemon juice out of the back door?

“A. Yes. She said that she washed the cup and set it on top of the dish pan.

“Q. Did she tell you when in relation to the death of Ray Ashdown she threw the lemon juice out the back door and washed the cup?

“A. I asked her when she washed the cup.

“Q. And what was the answer?

“A. I asked her. She said ‘I washed the cup after I had made the second telephone call.’ I said to her, I said ‘Well, that sounds pretty funny, Mrs. Ashdown, that you would stop and wash a cup while your husband was taking convulsions.’ I says ‘Can you tell us the reason for that?’ She says, ‘No, I can’t.’ A little later on she says ‘I guess I was excited’ ” (R. 75, 76).

On the 27th day of July, 1955, at the defendant’s arraignment, when entering her plea of not guilty, the defendant said:

“I am not guilty, not guilty. I didn’t mean to do it” (R. 102).

The court ruled this last statement inadmissible as evidence against the defendant and the statement was not offered as evidence in the presence of the jury (R. 154).

POINT II

THERE WAS NO COERCION, DURESS OR PROMISE OF IMMUNITY MADE TO THE DEFENDANT NOR WAS THERE A VIOLATION OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT OF THE DEFENDANT AND THE COURT WAS CORRECT IN SO FINDING.

The trial of this cause commenced at 10:00 o'clock a. m., on August 22, 1955; the selection of a jury was completed and court recessed at 5:00 p. m. of said day. At 10:00 a. m. of the following day, August 23, 1955, the actual trial commenced (R. 1, 2, 3).

The State called the witness Martha Turnbaugh who testified that she was acquainted with the deceased, Ray Ashdown, and that she saw him alive in his back dooryard on July 5th, 1955 (R. 4, 5, 6).

The second witness for the State was one Mrs. Pat Sorenson, a neighbor of the Ashdowns. This witness testified (1) as to the defendant's having used the telephone at the home of the witness on the morning of July 5th, 1955 and of circumstances connected therewith; (2) as to a visit to the Ashdown home on the afternoon of that July 5th, to give condolences; (3) as to what this witness observed pertaining to the physical appearance of the defendant on these occasions (R. 6 to 13).

Next, the State called one Gloria Jean Barnhurst, another neighbor of the Ashdowns. The witness testified generally: (1) That she saw the defendant in the morning

of July 5th, 1955; (2) that the defendant used the witness's telephone to call a doctor; (3) that the defendant returned to the home of the witness almost immediately after having left from the first visit; (4) that the defendant was real upset; (5) that the witness and the defendant commenced certain preparation to take the defendant's husband to the hospital but that before they could do so, the doctor arrived; (6) *that the defendant said her husband had not felt well since his breakfast*; that he was in a lot of pain and was going paralyzed from his waist down (R. 13 to 20).

Dr. R. G. Williams was the next witness called by the State. The doctor testified as to his attendance of the deceased at the home of the deceased and the defendant on the morning of July 5th, 1955, and as to the death of the deceased thereat; as to arranging for a coroner's jury; as to the performance of an autopsy on the body of the deceased; as to the preparation of specimens for examination by the State Chemist; and, on cross-examination, as to some of the things defendant said to him during his attending the deceased and as to the physical and mental state of the defendant at such time. The doctor was interrogated as to his diagnosis of strychnine poisoning as the cause of death; and, as to other toxins which also affect the central nervous system (R. 20 to 36).

Arch Benson, Deputy Sheriff of Iron County, then related the method and means by which the specimens taken from the body of the deceased by Dr. Williams were delivered to the State Chemist at Salt Lake City for analysis (R. 37, 38, 39).

The State Chemist, M. Elmer Christensen, then testified for the State concerning the results of his findings from an examination of the said specimens; that the contents of the stomach of the deceased contained strychnine (R. 37 to 59).

Deputy Sheriff Arch Benson on re-direct examination related the return of the specimens with the report of the State Chemist to Cedar City (R. 59, 60).

Dr. R. G. Williams was recalled to identify the State's Exhibits 1 and 2 which were later admitted without objection by the defense (R. 60, 61, 62 and 187). On cross-examination, the doctor was further interrogated as to the autopsy findings and as to the presence of alcohol in the stomach of the deceased (R. 62, 63, 64).

The State then called Sheriff Arthur Nelson as a witness (R. 65). The sheriff testified as to his activities on the day of the murder and in connection therewith; i. e., July 5, 1955 (R. 65 to 68). Then the Record shows the following as having taken place:

"Q. Now, Mr. Nelson, I call your attention to the afternoon of the 5th of July 1955, did you have occasion to return to the Ashdown home?

"A. Well, we went up to the Ashdown home.

"Q. Who do you mean? Who was with you?

"A. Myself and Arch Benson, deputy sheriff, Charles Wells, Deputy Sheriff, and A. M. Marsden, county attorney.

"Q. When you got to the Ashdown home, what did you do?

"A. Well, there was Mrs. Ashdown was—

“Q. Mrs. Ashdown?

“A. Mrs. Ashdown was out in the back of the house. We drove up to the yard and got out of the automobile and shook hands with Mrs. Ashdown, and talked to her a second or two and then I asked her if she would mind getting in the car, that we would like to talk to her.

“Q. And what happened?

“A. And she did get in the car with us.

“Q. Who was present if you recall at this time?

“A. The same group, A. M. Marsden, Wells, Benson, and myself.

“Q. And Mrs. Ashdown?

“A. And Mrs. Ashdown.

“Q. Will you tell us if you can who spoke and what was said, as nearly as you can remember?

“A. As near as I remember I started the conversation. I think I said to Mrs. Ashdown that we would like to talk to her a little about the case, and I asked her if she knew really what happened. She said no she didn't know what had happened. I said to her, ‘Well, Mrs. Ashdown, Dr. Williams seems to think that Ray has been poisoned or had some poison.’ ‘Well,’ she says, ‘I didn't do it. I wouldn't even poison a rat.’

“MR. ERICKSON: Just a minute, your Honor.

“THE COURT: We will take a short recess.

“(3:15 p. m. Jurors admonished by the Court. Recess)” (R. 68 and 69).

Thereafter at 3:55 p. m., the court re-convened *in the absence of the jury*.

Without the presence of the jury, the following witnesses were examined before the court.

[For the State]

Arthur Nelson, Sheriff (R. 69-100).

Charles Wells, Deputy Sheriff (R. 100-102).

[For the Defendant]

John Walter Segler (R. 103-111).

Milda Hopkins Ashdown, Defendant (R. 111-113).

William Henry Hopkins (R. 113-116).

Objections were then made to the admission of the written confession of the defendant (R. 118, 119). The court took the matter under advisement and recessed, 5:45 p. m., until August 24th, 1955.

August 24th, 1955, at 10:00 a. m., the Court re-convened *in the absence of the jury*.

The State called as witness:

Charles Wells, Deputy Sheriff (R. 120-140).

The *Court* called as witness:

Patrick H. Fenton, District Attorney (R. 143-148).

Thereafter the court recessed at 11:45 a. m., August 24th, 1955.

The court re-convened at 2:00 p. m., in the absence of the jury, and from the testimony taken (R. 69 through 148) made the following statement of its findings:

“THE COURT: Regarding the question of whether the prosecution can go into the evidence which has been testified to by the Sheriff Arthur Nelson and by Deputy Wells and Mr. Fenton, the court wishes to make the following statement of its findings:

“First, that there was no promise made or assurance given of any immunity from prosecution.

“Second, the court finds that the defendant was advised before the statements that are sought to be introduced in evidence were made; that she had the right to refuse to answer questions or make a statement and that she had the right to have an attorney.

“Third, that the defendant did not at that time ask for an attorney, nor until after the statements offered were made, except as to certain statements made in answer to questions as to where she procured the strychnine, which questions were asked and answers made after she indicated that she should have or desired to have an attorney.

“Fourth, that the defendant was questioned or interviewed by Sheriff Nelson and Deputy Wells and the District Attorney from approximately 4:00 p. m. until approximately 8:30 p. m. before she made the statements that are under question here; that she was then in the courtroom in the presence of those three officers, two peace officers and the District Attorney, and that her sister, although she came with her to the sheriff's office, wasn't permitted to go into the room, nor was her father or her uncle permitted to go into the courtroom during the course of that questioning.

“The court finds that there were no threats of violence or other threats made by either of the officers or by the District Attorney.

“Sixth, that there was no promise made nor any assurance given of any benefit or reward, except that the District Attorney informed the defendant that if poison had been given by mistake it might make a difference between a prosecution for murder and manslaughter, and the District Attorney read to the defendant the statute relating to first degree murder and involuntary manslaughter, and informed the defendant of the penalties for those respective offenses.

“The court believes that neither the method of questioning of the defendant under the circumstances shown by the evidence, nor the physical or mental distress suffered by the defendant under the circumstances shown by the evidence were severe enough to amount to compulsion as that is contemplated by the constitutional provisions or statutes which provide that a person shall not be compelled to give evidence against himself.

“The court believes that the circumstances were not such as to induce the defendant to make the statements in question herein, that is such serious statements as the statement that she had furnished or given strychnine to her husband.

“The court believes that the inducing cause of the statement was not fear nor duress, nor compulsion, nor any promise or assurance of any reward or immunity. The court concludes that the statements made by the defendant to the officers after she stated that she desired or should have counsel are not admissible; that any inquiry as to those statements should not be made in the presence of the jury.

“The court believes that the statements made to the officers prior to that time are admissible, but the court proposes to give to the jury an appropriate instruction as to its consideration of the weight and credibility of such statements. Counsel may proceed accordingly” (R. 150-152).

Thereafter the record shows, as follows:

“MR. FENTON: Before the jury comes in I wonder if the court would indicate if the ruling is intended to cover the acts of the 10th of July also, in which the written confession was solicited.

“THE COURT: Yes. The court believes that under the conclusion just stated that Exhibit 3 would be admissible in evidence on a proper foundation being laid in the presence of the jury, as was laid in the absence of the jury before the court.

“MR. MARSDEN: That would be admissible?

“THE COURT: Will be admissible if a proper foundation is laid.

“MR. MARSDEN: All right.

“THE COURT: In other words, the court does not believe that the fact that the written confession was signed while the defendant was incarcerated—no, just a minute. No, that would be after she had requested counsel.

“MR. FENTON: That is correct.

“THE COURT: That that would be inadmissible under the same principle as the other statements, because of having been procured after she had indicated that she desired to have counsel.

“MR. FENTON: All right, sir.

“THE COURT: Any statement by the defendant after that would be subject to objection and the State should carefully refrain from going into that in the presence of the jury.

“The court requests that counsel use care to avoid any reference to those things that are excluded under the present ruling of the court. Anything further before we call the jury?

“MR. FENTON: If I understand correctly then, your Honor, we are to be permitted in relation to the 9th, up to the time Mrs. Ashdown asked for counsel, and at that time be cut off and nothing after, that anything up to that time is admissible.

“THE COURT: Of course you will have to develop it by laying the proper foundation in your questioning before the jury.

“MR. FENTON: Yes, your Honor.

“THE COURT: You can't admit it to the jury without appropriate questioning.

“MR. FENTON: Yes.

“THE COURT: And the court requests that you avoid leading questions in the presence of the jury.

“MR. FENTON: Yes, your Honor.

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